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REEVES, District Judge:

Appellant Michael Ronge a former deputy witlirlorida’sLee County
Sheriff’'s Office. In May 2013,Ronga wasccused oéssaulting and robbing
Rodolfo LopezCastanedaa Guatemalamational after beingdirectedto givehim
a courtesy ride homeRonga initiallydeniedthe assaultzlaiming that no
altercationoccurred But dter severahoursof interrogation Rongachangedhis
storyby admittingthat he took.opezCastaned#o a construction site, frisked him,
andshoved hinduring the encountetHowever Rongaconsistently deniethat he
robbedthe victim orstruckhim with a closeefist. Ronga wagater indicted on
federalcharges of deprivation of rights while actimgder color of law, and
obstruction of justice. Ronga was convicted on both cdofitaving asix-day
jury trial. During a subsequent sentencing proceedRumga received a belew
guidelines sentenasghich included72 months’ incarceration. Ronga appeals both
his conviction and sentencéfter careful review, we affirm.

. BACKGROUND

A. Facts

In the early morning hours of May 5, 2013, Lee County Sheriff's Deputies
were called t@ restaurardnd bain Bonita Springs, FloridaSecurity personnel
at the restaurant sought law enforcement assistance patinawho refused to

leavethe premises. The patrerasaccompanietby a minorwho was permittetb
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enterthe barbased orassurancgthat he would not consume alcoh@&ut dter
discovemg that theminorwas consuming alcohdecuritypersonnel askedoth
partiesto leave. The patrorrefused When Sheriff's deputieSergeahMark
Young and DeputiRongaarrived, the patron was sitting on a bench outside the
resaurant. Restaurant management did not wish to press cHaugasked the
deputies to remove the patrisom the premises. In respon§&grgeant Young
directed Ronga ttget him out of here,” referring to thgatron, later identified as
LopezCastaneda. Ronga performeg@rotective frisk of.opezCastanedand
thenplaced him in theear seabf hisvehiclefor a courtesy ride homeRong,
however did not takd_opezCastanedadome. Instead, Ronga drove a
construction sit®@f anewhousing subdivisionThe events that followedere
disputed during trial

LopezCastanedé&estified thatRongafrisked him, removed higell phone
and money, anthenhit him numerous timewith a closed fist, knocking him to
the ground Hospital records reveadithat LopezCastareda suffered a broken
noseand a bruisetlp, thus confirming that a violent confrontation of some sort
hadoccurred According to GPS recordisom the police cruiser, the entire
altercationlasted only aminute The evidenceffered during trial also indicated

thata struggle had occurred the construction site.
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Following thealtercation, Ronga proceedetth his shift, driving to mete
Sergeant Youn{pr coffee at a nearbgonvenience storeSome hours later,
LopezCastanedand his sistereporedtheincidentto law enforcementRonga
wasstill on his shift at the time angspondedo the callfor assistancelL.opez
Castanedanmediatelyidentified Ronga as the assailahbpezCastanedasked
to be taken to a hospitahd wadatertransportedhereby ambulance.

During theinvestigation of the incideninvestigators tookopezCastaneda
to thesite of the altercation arabtainechis statement Investigatorsalso
acquired physical evidence and tqmiotographs ofopezCastaneda
photographs of the location of the altercation, and clay moltsgdrintsfrom
the construction siteThey also obtained a warraamtd searcheBonga’s
residencdor additional evidence

Rongawas questioned by Lieutenant Murphy whemrrd¢terned to workhat
evening Murphy describedRongaascautious but cooperativduring this
guestioning Rongarecounted a nedreadon collisionoccurring prior to the
altercation with Lopexastanedavhich left himscared andhaken He recounted
beingcalled to the restaurant redarg a patronaccompanied bgn underage

drinker. Rongadescribed_opezCastandaas intoxicated, but calm and collected.

! Lieutenant William Murphy interviewed Lopé&2astaneda and obtained his version of the

events.
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According toRonga LopezCastaneddid notpresentany problemsprior tohis
being droppedff at his home irthe Sandy Hollow apartment compleikonga
insisted thathe had no problems with this guy,” referringliopezCastaneda

On several occasions, however, Rorngteratedhat he was stressed the
night of the incidenas a result of theea-headon collision He insisted
numerous times that there was noraléion withLopezCastaneda, and that
LopezCastaneda had ntitone anything stupil. Ronga wasaterconfronted
with GPSdataindicating thahe had gone to the construction sitel not to
LopezCastaneda’s apartment complekich was directly contrary to his earlier
representationsRongahen reiteratethat his memory was fuzzy duettee stress
of the earlier incidenbut finally admitted that he hadn fact, takenLopez
Castaned#o the construction site.

Rongaeventually admittethat hepustred LopezCastaneda twicand
removed aell phone from his pocket. But kensistentlydenied that h&ook
money from LopeZxCastanedagr struckLopezCastaneda with a closed fist.
According to Ronga, after frisking Lop&astanedahe may havéeft the victim’s
cell phoneon the trunk of hiwehicle HoweverRongadenied havingpossession
of the cell phone and deniéaving any idea of its location

Ronga alsalenied that.opezCastaneda attacked hibutagreed to the

interrogator’s suggesin that he pushedopezCastaneda an effort to get him to
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walk towards his residencéfter beingconfronted with the physical evidence and
theextent of LopezZCastaneda’s injuries, Ronga admitted to pushinga second
time. Rongaclaimed that.opez-Castaneda came towanan ashewas returning
to hisvehicle Ronga ontendedhat ke pushed_opezCastanedaway, saying
“‘just go.” Rongaadmittedthatduring the second pusis left handnay have
struckLopezCastaneda’s face

Ronga was arrestddllowing the interview LopezCastaneda cell phone
was later recovereaaearthe side of the roagust outside the entrance to the
construction site

B. Procedural History

Ronga was found guilty following trialf “willfully depriving Rodolfo
LopezCastaneda of his Constitutional right not to be deprived of liberty and
property without due process of law, while acting as a deputy sheriff of the Lee
County Sheriff's Office, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 242.” Paragraph 1B of the
Verdict Formthendirected the jury to determine the specdanstitutional
deprivation The three optionscluded:“the right to be free from the intentional
use of excessive force by assaulting Rodolfo Lepagtaeda resulting in bodily
injury;” “the right to be free from the unreasonable seizure of property by forcibly
taking currency belonging to Rodolfo Lop€astanedaresulting in bodily injury

and/or “the right to be free from the unreasonable seizure of property by forcibly
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taking a cell phone belonging to Rodolfo Logéastanedaresulting in bodily

injury.” The jury checked the first and third options, finding that Ronga assaulted
and forcibly took the victim’s cell phone, but not his money. The jury also found
Ronga guilty & “knowingly engaging in misleading conduct towards another
person, with intent to hinder, delay and prevent the communication to a law
enforcement officer of information relating to the commission and possible
commission of a federal offense, namely, deprivation of civil rights under color of
law, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1512(b)(3).”

Ronga now appeals his conviction and sentence. Raskgeathis court to
acquit him of theobstruction barge arguing that no misleading information was
actually transfeed to federal officialbeause halltimatelyabandonedhis earlier
false statementsndtold the truth Ronga also seeks a new trial on the assault and
robbery chargecontendng thatthedistrict courtimproperlydeclined to givea
seltdefensanstruction Finally, Ronga challenges his-A2onth belowguideline
sentence as substantively unreasonable

[I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The sufficiency of the evidence supportegonviction is reviewede novo
SeeUnited States v. Howard@42 F.3d 13341341 (11th Cir. 2014)Further, il n
reviewing tte sufficiency of the evidence, we look at the record in the light most

favorable to the verdict and draw all reasonable inferences and resolve all
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guestions of credibility in its favor.United States WVhitg 663 F.3d 1207, 1213
(11th Cir. 2011)internal quotation marks and citation omifte@Questions of
statutory construction amdsorevieweddenova SeeUnited States v. Evangd78
F.3d 1332, 1341 (11th C2007). We likewisereviewde novahe issue of
whether a requested jury instruction is supported by sufficient evidéhstad
States v. LaFond/83 F.3d 1216, 1221 (11th C2019; United States v. Calderpn
127 F.3d 1314, 1329 (11th Cir997)

A district court’s refusal to give a requested jury instruction is reviewed for
abuse of discretionUnited States v. Svetg56 F.3d 1157, 1161 (11th Cir. 2009)
(en bang. Therefusal ‘is reversible error where the requested instruction (1) was
correct, (2) was not substantially covered by the charge actually given, and (3)
dealt with some point in the trial so important that failure to give the requested
instruction seriously impaired the defendant’s ability to conduct his defense.
United States v. Eckhardt66 F.3d 938, 9448 (11th Cir 2006) “[W]e will only
reverse if we are left with a substantial and eradicable doubt as to whethgythe |
was properly guided in its deliberationdd. at 948.

Finally, we reviewthe substantive reasonableness sf¢m@tenceinder an
abuse ofliscretionstandard SeeUnited States v. Rosal&uno, 789 F.3d 1249,
1255 (11th Cir. 2015(citing Gall v. United States52 U.S. 38, 51, 128 &t.

586, 597 169 L. Ed. 2d 44%2007). “A district court abuses its discretion when it
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(1) fails to afford consideration to relevant factors that were due significant weight,
(2) gives significant weight to an improper or irrelevant factor, or (3) commits a
clear error of judgment in considering the proper factodnited States v. Campa
459 F.3d 11211174 (11th Cir2006) €n bang.
[Il. DISCUSSION
A.  Sufficiency of the Evidence

Ronga contends that the evidence is insufficient to support his conviction
under the obstructienf-justice charge given to the jury since he told the “truth”
before any of his misleading statements veer@municated to a federal officer.

He argues that this Court should adopt a narrow interpretation of the obstruction
of-justice statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1512(b)(3) and, interpreting the statute as he
proposes, find that thevielence presented by the Government in this case was
insufficient to sustain his conviction. Ronga’s proffered statutory interpretation
fails, and we find that there was sufficient evidence for a reasonable jury to find
that Ronga obstructed justice un@et512(b)(3).

“To prove a violation of § 1512(b)(3), the government must establish
beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant knowingly and willfully (1) engaged
in misleading conduct toward another person, (2) with the intent to hinder, delay or
preveat the communication of information to a federal law enforcement officer or

federal judge, (3) about the commission or the possible commission of a federal
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crime” United States v. Veal53 F.3d 1233, 1253 (11th Cir. 1998brogated on
other grounds bifowler v. United State$63 U.S. 668, 131 &t. 2045, 179 L.
Ed.2d 10992011). A state law enforcement officer qualifies as “anotherqrers
for purposes of the statutéd. at 1246 Further,a conviction under § 1512(IB)
does not require proof that a federal investigation was ever initiated or that it was
ongoing at the time the statement was meslseUnited States v. Rondd55 F.3d
1273, 1288 (11th Cir. 2006Rather than require that a federal proceeding be
ongoirg, 8 1512(b)(3)requires only thaa defendant intended to hinder, delay, or
prevent communication @ federal officigl.” 1d. (citing Veal 153 F.3d at 1250
And there need only be“eseasonable likelihoddthat hecommunication wilbe
made to a federal officialUnited States v. Chafi808 F.3d 1263, 1274 (11th Cir.
2015)(citing Fowler, 563 U.S. at 671,31 S.Ct. at 2048. In short where a
defendanmakes a misleading statement to a law enforcement gffieer
statements madewith “intention to thwart an inquityinto a possible federal
crime, andhere is a reasonable likelihood that the misleading statemié e
communicatedo a federal official, alelements of the crime asatisfied

On appeal, Ronga argues thatstistain a conviction under the subject
federal statutghere must be an actual transfeno$leading information.
Additionally, hecontendghat, when an individual abandons lisceptive ways

andprovides truthful informatiojthe conviction canotstand. If either argument

10
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has merit, Ronga would be entitled to a new trial, rather than the acquittal he seeks.
Whether he actually provided truthful information in response to questioning
would require a jury finding. & herethere is sufficient evidence that he did not
provide such information. Therefore, adtpliwould not be appropriate.

Ronga citedJnited States v. Vedl53 F.3d 12331(1th Cir.1998) in
support of his statutory interpretation argumeéme recognizeadah Vealthat the
intention behind 8§ 1512(b)(3) is to “ensure that information received by federal
investigators or judges regarding a potential crime be correct, truthful, and
complete to facilitate a full and fair investigation and adjudicdtidra3 F.3dat
1252 Further, federal jurisdiction under 8 1512(b)(3) is “based on the federal
interest of protecting the integrity of potential federal investigations by ensuring
that transfers of information to federal law enforcement officers and judigdisg
to the possible commission of federal offenses be truthful and unimpeded.”
The defendant relies dhese statements as a basis for his argument traatisder
of misleading information is necessary for a coneicto stand under the stagut
However, these policy statements do not conitri@rpretation of the statute.
Further the legislative historgoes nosupporithe defendant’s narrow readinf
the statute

“[1] tis a well establishedxiom of statutory interpretation that in construing

a statute, courts must first look to the plaieaning of the statute itself3olis

11
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Ramirez v. U.S. Dépof Justice 758 F.2d 1426, 1430 (11th Cir. 1985) (per
curiam). Despite the defendant’s argumtseabout the statute’s purpoYe] eview
of the legislative history is not necessary unlesstatsté inescapably
ambiguous.”ld. Here hetext of the statute is clear as to bothphgsical act,
actus reus and themental intentmens reanecessary for the crim&heactus
reaswas the defendant’s engaging in misleading conduct.ni¥éres reavas his
intent to hinder, delay, or prevent communication of information relating to a
possible federal offense. The tettthe statute does no#quire theactual transfer
of misleadingnformation to a federal officiallt provides:

(b) Whoever knowingly uses intimidation, threatens, or corruptly

persuades another person, or attempts to do so, or engages in

misleading conduct toward another person, with intent to

(3) hinder, delay, or prevent the communication to a law enforcement

officer or judge of the United States of information relating to the

commission or possible commission of a Federal offense

shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 20 years, or

both.
18 U.S.C.A. 8§ 1512

Despitethis Court’'searlierdiscussion of the statutefsirposewe
acknowledged ivealthatthe plain meaning of the statute is considered before
resoring to legislative intent 153 F.3dat 1245. The question presentedVeal

was whether the termanother persontould include atate investigatorBecause

theterm was unambiguoudetermining its meaning did not requresort to

12
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legislative history.ld. Likewise, the text of the sta®ihereis unambiguous and
supports the defendant’s conviction. Eveitsipurpose is to prevent the transfer
of misleading information to federal official$ follows that the statute
criminalizesattemps to provide misleading information or inhibit truthful
informationfrom being transferred

What is left is the defendant’s argument that whemdividual eventually
provides truthfuinformation he canot be charged with obstruction. But Ronga
fails to offer any authority to bolster this argumantl it is not supported by the
plain text of the statue. Tlaetus reuss “engag[ing]in misleading conduct
toward another persband themens reas “with intent tohinder, delay, or
prevent the communicatian . of information relating to the commission or
possiblecommission of a Federal offensa?erhaps its possible that when an
individual comes clean, he or she nraylonger possess thecessarynens rea
However, the elements of the crime are beforethe individualprovides truthful
information and there is ncequirementhatthe individual persist in deceptive
behaviorto support a convictian

In this casethe jurycould have concluded thitwasnotreasonably likely
that misleading information would be transferred to a federal investigatoould
havefound that Ronga eventualfyrovided truthful informatiopandthatit was not

likely that his pior deceptive comments would be transferred to federal officials.

13
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But the jurydid not reach this conclusion. Insteddyas faced with competing
narratives: (i thedefendant’s sworn statemeahtt he pushed the victim twice, but
only hit his face incidentally, and with an ogeand andconversely(ii) the
victim’s testimonyand other evidendhat he was punched in the face repeatedly.
To this day thedefendant demsthat he punched the victim with aoekd fist. If
the jury credited the victim’s statemearid supporting evidence over the
defendant’destimony thenit could havereasonablyound that a deceptive
statement waactuallycommunicated t¢the FBI.

B. Sef-Defenselnstruction

Ronga als@eeks a new trial based on the distamtrts refusal togive a
self-defense instruction. Whether the defense produced sufficient evidence to
obtaina requested jury instruction is revieskde novo United States v. LaFond
783 F.3d 1216, 1221 (11th C015; United States v. Calderpt27 F.3d 1314,
1329 (11th Cirl997). However, a district court’s refusal to give a requested jury
instruction is reviewed for abuse of discretidsnited States. Svete556 F.3d
1157, 1161 (11th Cir. 20091t bang. “We consider three factors when
determining whether the digtt court’s refusal to give a requested jury instruction
warrants reversal: (1) whether the requested instruction is a substantialst co
statement of the law; (2) whether the jury charge given addressed the requested

instruction; and (3) whether the failure to give the requested instruction seriously

14
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impaired the defendant's ability to present an effective defedsded States v.

Hill, 799 F.3d 1318, 1320 (11th Cir. 2015) (internal quotation marks and citation
omitted);see alsdUnited States v. Eckhardt66 F.3d 938, 9448 (11th Cir.

2006).

Self-defense is an affirmative defense on which the defendant bears the
burden of productionUnited States v. AlvareZ55 F.2d 830, 8n.12 (11th Cir.
1985) €iting Patterson v. New York32 U.S. 197, 231 18, 97S. Ct. 2319, 2338
n.18 53 L. Ed. 2d281(1977) (Powell, J., dissenting)). Once the defendadts
this obligation the burden of persuasion shifts to the governmiehtSpecifically,
the government must then prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the defendant
was not acting in sellefense.d.

Our precedent has not been consistent in defining the defendant’s burden of
production. SeeUnited States v. Alvarad808 F.3d 474, 4889 (11th Cir. 2015)
(discussing cases). Some opinions have recognized a “sufficient evidence for a
reaso@ble jury to find in his favor” standardd. at 489, citingMathews v. United
States485 U.S. 58, 63, 108 &1. 883 887,99 L. Ed.2d 54(1988);United States
v. Gutierrez 745 F.3d 463, 472 (11th C#014). The United States Court of
Appeals for tle Fifth Circuit has expressly adopted this standask dited
States v. Brang®1 F.3d 699, 712 (5th Cir. 1996) (“The requirement that the

evidence be sufficient to persuade a reasonable juror . . . extends to all defenses for

15
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which the defendant bears the initial burden of production.”). However, we have
often described the standard for obtaining a requested defense instruction to be
“any foundation” in the evidenceSeeAlvarado, 808 F.3d at 489 (listing cases).
As statedn United States v. Lanzp639 F.3d 1293, 1302 (11th Cir. 2011), “[a]
criminal defendant has the right to a jury instruction on a proposed theory of
defense, provided it is a valid defense and there is some evidence at trial to support
the instruction.” Assuming there is some tension between these standards, as in
Alvarado, we need not harmonize them here, because the defendant has failed to
meet either test.

The instruction sought by the defendant correctly states the law as it relates
to seltdefense.lt provides:

A person is entitled to defend himself against the immediate use of

unlawful force. But the right to use force in salefense is limited to

using only as much force as reasonably appears to be necessary under

the circumstances.

The gowvemment has the burden of proving the defendant did not act in

seltdefense.For you to find the defendant guilty, the government

must prove that it was not reasonable for the Defendant to think that

the force he used was necessary to defend himself against

immediate threatUnless the government proves this beyond a

reasonable doubt, you must find the defendant not guilty.

The evidenc&ongaoffersin support of this instruction include his words

“get away from me,” which he describes as signifying a perceived threat. Further,

he points tdSergeantNalewaiks testimonyregardingthevictim’s description of

16
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the altercation. Nalewaik testified that withessing_opezCastanedaescribe to
a Spanistspeaking officer what had happenedgaemed likd.opezCastaneda
turned andtontestedeing frisked? Further, Ronga points to thecross
testimony of Captain Murphy. When asked whetlmyezCastanedahallenged
being friskeda second timeMurphy answered “possibly.And when asked
whether LopezxCastaneda coulldaveintendedo attackRonga Murphy answered
“possibly.” There was also testimony elicited regarding a law enforcement
officer’s right to use force to protect himself, based uptreasonable belief’ that
the officerwould feel tmeatened.

Even Bking this evidenci the light most favorable t&onga, itis
insufficient to require that self-defensanstruction be given to the juryAs an
initial matter,Murphy’s acknowledgement thhbpezCastanedaould“possibly”
havebeenabout to attaclRongais speculation.“While a particular piece of
evidence standing alone may support inferences that warrant an instruction, those
inferences may evaporate after reviewing the entire recdmitéd States v. Scqut
112 F.3d 955, 961 (BtCir. 1997)(quotingBranch 91 F.3d at 712)Murphy was
not present when the incident between Ronga and EGpstaneda occurred.

Moreover,Ronga himself never claimed to fekfeatened. Instead k&pressly

2 At trial, LopezCastanedéestified otherwse. Rather than turning to object to the frisk,

he alleged thaRonga turned him around after the frisk, and began punching him.

17
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disavowed thatik pushng of LopezCastanedavasin response to an attacknd
while Ron@’s statement “get away from imight be perceived as responsive to
a perceived threaBonga denied during his interrogation thatwas threatened
According toRonga he wagusttrying to getLopezCastaneda to leavés for
Nalewaik’s testimony, he could not understand what Ldpaztaneda was saying
at the time because Lop&astaneda was speaking Spanish, and the Spanish
speaking officer who could understand what Lefestaneda said indicatduhat
LopezCastaneda did not say that he resisted the frisking.

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the defendant does not
mean viewing any statement or assertion out of contéewing the record as a
whole, the evidence does not safa selfdefense instructionAs stated in
Branch “[w]e review the record cognizant that the merest scintilla of evidence in
the defendans favor does not warrant a jury instruction regarding an affirmative
defense for which the defendant bears the initial burden of production.” 91 F.3d,
712.

The districtcourtalso concludethat a selHdefense instruction can be fairly
and adequately encompassed in another instruction requiring willfulhlss.
defendant contends, ame have recognized itUnited States v. Arigs431 F.3d
1327, 134q11th Cir. 2005)andUnited States v. Ryis9 F. 3d 1151, 1154 1th

Cir. 1995) that “acriminal defendant has the right to have the jury instructed on

18
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his theory of defense, separate and apart from instructions given on the elements of
the charged offense.However, becaushedefendant did not meet his burden of
production, heavas not entitled ta sepaate instruction.

The final question is whether the distrciurts failure to give the requested
instructionsubstantially inhibited the defendant’s ability to mount an effective
defense.Even without the selflefense instructionhe government bore the
burden of proving that Ronga’s uséforce was willful andunlawful. When an
officer uses force reasonablgecessary to preverttarm he acts lawfully
Thereforethe defendant could not have intended to violate the law if he were
actinglegitimatelyin selfdefense.Because the defendant was allowed to e®nt
the willfulness element, he was not inhibitednfrpreseting an effective defense.

C.  Substantive Reasonableness of Sentence

Finally, Ronga argues that his belaguideline, 72month term of
incarcerations substantively unreasonable because it is greater than necessary to
fulfill the statutory purposes listed in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a). Specifically, he
contends that remand is required because the district court failed to adequately
consider the circumstances of the offense and the need to avoid unwarranted
sentencing disparitieamongdefendants convicted of similar conducNeither

argument has merit.

19
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We review the reasonableness of a sentence under a deferential abuse of
discretion standard of reviewGall v. United States552 U.S. 38, 51, 128 St.C
586, 597 169 L. Ed. 2d 4452007). Reviewing reasonableness is a-pad
process which requires us first ensurehat the district court did not commit a
significant procedural error, and second, that the sentence is substantively
reasonable. Id. The party who challenges the sentence bears the burden of
establishing that the sentence is unreasonableited States v. Tomé&11l F.3d
1371, 1378 (11th Cir. 2010).In evaluating substantive reasonableness, we
consider the totality of the circumstances and whether the sentence achieves the
purposes stated in § 3553(bnited States v. Sarra$75 F.3d 1191, 1219 (11th
Cir. 2009).

The district court abuses its distion if it: (i) fails to consider relevant
factors hat were due significant weigh(ti) gives an improper or irrevant factor
significant weight,or (iii) commits a clear error of judgment by balancing the
proper factors in an unreasonable manngnited States v. lrey612 F.3d 1160,

1189 (11thCir. 2010) én bang. However, when the district court imposes a
sentence that is within the guideline range, we will expect, but not prethand,

Is reasonable Sarras 575 F.3d at 1219. Likewise, a semce that is well below
the statutory maximum sentence is likely to be reasondbée United States v.

Gonzalez550 F.3d 1319, 1324 (11th Cir. 2008).

20
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In determining arappropriate term of incarceration, the weight given to any
specific 8 3553(a) factas committed to the sound discretion of the district court.
United States v. Clayl83 F.3d 739, 743 (11th Ci2007). As such, the district
court need not specifically address every mitigating factor raised by the defendant
for the sentence to be sudnstively reasonableUnited States v. Snipe811 F.3d
855, 873 (11th Cir. 2010). We will not vacate the sentence merely because another
senence might be more appropriate. Instead, will find the sentence to be
substantively unreasonabémly if the district court committed a clear error of
judgment Irey, 612 F.3d at 11901.

Ronga’s guidehe rangdor imprisonmentvas calculated as 12151
months, and he does not challenge that calculation on agteatgued for
numerous variancegiring the setencing hearing Rongdirst argued for
variances based on aberrant behavior, and that his behavior was outside the
heartlandof cases upon which the relevant guideline sections are.bBs#u
variance were deniedHe then attempted to argue that the court needed to avoid
unwarranted sentencing disparities, notiadgewcases for comparison

While Ronga sought a variance below the-bording guidelines rangehe
United Statesoughtthe statutory maximum s&ence. After carefully considering

the parties’ argumentdyedistrict court found thathe sentenceadvocated by the
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governmentvas not warrantedhen allthe statutory sentencing factors were
considered. Instead,stated
The Court need not senterjtiee ddendantjto the maximum term
allowed by law in order to fashion a sentence that is just punishment
for the offense, reflects the seriousness of the offense, promotes

respect for the law, and also affords adequate deterrence. | do find for
those reasonsdha variance is appropriate.

Rejecting a guidelines sentence, toartvaried downward and imposed a
sentence of 72 monthscarceration

Ronga is unable to demonstrate thatseistence is substantively
unreasonable ilght of thedistrict court’sconsideration of allheevidence
presented and in light dfie § 3553(a) factors. The district court heard iaets
regarding the possible grounds for departure, considered Rangdeline range
andall relevant§ 3553(a) factors. then imposed a 7&honth total sentence.
Rongasterm of incarceratiors substantiallyoelow theproperly calculated
guideline range of 12151 months. It cannot be said to be unreasonably severe
under the facts presentefiee Sarrass75 F.3d at 1219.

Moreover, the district court did not commit a clear error of judgment in
weighing the 8§ 3553(a) factorsrey, 612 F.3d at 11991. Rongéas primary
contention is that the district court balanced the § 3553(a) fdmofailed to
adequately consider the circumstances of the offense and the need to avoid

unwarranted sentencing dispariteeaongdefendarg convicted of similar conduct.
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However, it is clear that the district court considered the nature of the offenses
explaining thaRonga betrayede publi¢s trust and demonstrated a flagrant
disregard for the law when he committed the criofeshich he was convicted
Likewise, the court expressly considered the need to avoid unwarranted sentencing
disparitiesn fashioninga total sentence that was reasonable under the
circumstances.

Rongacitesfive cases for comparisan which other law enforcement
officersarguablyengaged in more egregious conduct, but received lighter
sentencesEach casghoweverjs distinguishablen its facts. Furtheg
3553(a)(6) does not create a metric wherlsgntencing counhust compare
certain selected sentences imposed by gtigdgreswithin the district or circuit. As
othercircuits have recognized, 8§ 35&8(6) is focusegrimarily on nationwide
sentencinglisparities SeeUnited States \6immons501 F.3d620, 63-24 (6th
Cir. 2007) (listing cases)The focus on nationwide disparities does not mean, of
course, that sentences imposed in this circuit are subject to a “natioreal grad
curve.” United Satesv. Hill. 643 F.3d 807, 885 (11th Cir. 2011ational
uniformity is considered by the United States Sentencing Commission in
establishing guidelines rangesd § 3553(a)(6) serves as a remirafe¢hat goal

of uniformity.
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Further, it was not an abuse of discretion for the district court to place
greater emphasis on the serious nature of the offense and &pegsonal history
rather than the defendant’s hgpidked cases in which other defendants arguably
receivedmore lenent sentencesThe weight given to the particular § 3553(a)
factor wa within the discretion of the trial courClay, 483 F.3d at 743Under
the circumstancgsresentegwe conclude thahe district court did not abuse its
discretion by imposing a 7&onthterm of incarceration

V. CONCLUSION

The Defendant’s conviction and senteaceAFFIRMED.

24



